

CAMBRIDGE

UNIVERSITY PRESS

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Houston, we have a problem...or do we? The trajectory of astrobioethics and Indigenous thought

Ried Mackay

Sociology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX 77843-4351, USA

Email: remackay@tamu.edu

Received: 5 November 2022; Revised: 1 April 2023; Accepted: 5 June 2023; First published online: 26 June 2023

Keywords: Astrobioethics, astrobiology, bioethics, Global South, Indigenous philosophy, philosophy of science, sociology

Abstract

Background. At the 2022 meeting of the American Society for Bioethics and Medical Humanities, a new affinity group was formed: astrobioethics. This is the branch of bioethics for space exploration, extraterrestrial environments and possible extraterrestrial organisms. Bioethics has traditionally operated from Western/Global North dominated thought structures and it is difficult to introduce alternative frameworks. However, astrobioethics is forming and is primed to include alternative frameworks, such as pre-Columbian Indigenous American philosophy/ethics and Global South frameworks and knowledge.

Methods. The methods utilized include Indigenous research methodologies and standpoint, an overview of Indigenous American philosophy/ethics, and reflection on how this may impact astrobioethical considerations of space exploration.

Discussion and Conclusions. Indigenous philosophies and ethics consider space exploration and its associated risks and impacts on potential extraterrestrial lifeforms, systems and environments. The nuances of using terms like 'colonization' are considered and the paper concludes by considering how Méxica philosophical concepts and the four main Indigenous pragmatic dimensions can interact with established bioethical principles to guide future space exploration.

Contents

Introduction	559
Methods	560
Indigenous thought and philosophy	561
Science and indigenous philosophy	561
Indigenous thought and astrobioethics	562
Discussion	562
On the term 'colonize'	563
Olin and interaction	563
Nepantla and plurality	564
Malinalli and community	564
Ometeotl and growth	565
Conclusion	565

Introduction

A new affinity group was launched at the 2022 annual meeting of the American Society for Bioethics and Medical Humanities (ASBH) – the largest bioethical professional association in the United States

[©] The Author(s), 2023. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution and reproduction, provided the original article is properly cited.

and globally influential. This group for astrobioethics is the latest recognition of the importance and intersection of ethics, physical sciences, humanities and social sciences. As more nations reach space and begin their own explorations – increasingly without being semi or totally reliant on the big 3 (US, China, Russia) – the big 3 are rapidly implementing plans for returning objects to our planet and sending humans to other cosmic bodies. This exploration and expansion demands that we consider our actions, their implications and how we will advance into our cosmic future. Beyond the physical dangers of space exploration there are also the conceptual dangers as it relates to how exploration and settlement will proceed, whose ideas will *matter*, and the thought framework of our future multiplanetary civilization.

As humanity proceeds into its future we will have to continue contending with the scientific, social and intellectual legacies of colonialism, Western thought privilege and Global North dominance. Since astrobioethics is in its infancy it is the perfect opportunity to diligently work to ensure that the pervasive legacies of colonialism and epistemic privilege do not continue. This means that the scientific community, governments and public must work to learn, understand and meaningfully incorporate historically repressed thought frameworks. Global South scholars have argued that this can only be achieved through a determined decolonial epistemic justice (Santos, 2014; Mignolo and Walsh, 2018).

As a mixed Indigenous sociologist, bioethicist and public health researcher – who loves anything space related (my Dad even took me to NASA's overnight Space Camp in Alabama when I was about 9) – I believe that astrobioethics studies are ripe for the inclusion of Indigenous philosophies from the pre-Columbian eras, Global South frameworks, experiences with death and destruction from colonization and resilience in the face of ongoing 21st century colonization and oppression (Cornum, 2015; Drake, 2018; Renstrom, 2022; Milligan, 2023). My own ancestry and familiarity with Indigenous concepts that appear in this paper are based on the knowledge of my ancestors, particularly the Méxica (Aztec). Méxica knowledge that survived is well-recorded and provides a rich philosophical tradition to explore many topics. This paper will begin with a background that centres these Indigenous frameworks and briefly explains their structure. The essay then turns to an analysis of the current state of astrobioethics and provides examples of how Indigenous thought frameworks can be used to understand the ethics of space exploration.

Methods

This paper follows from strong Indigenous-led studies, knowledge and researchers who have identified Indigenous research methodologies. The Indigenous method stems from millennia-knowledge (Sánchez-Antonio, 2022) which has been passed down from generation to generation (Kovach, 2010) and in some cases recorded in books, murals and more. Science from an Indigenous method involves three key aspects (Kovach, 2010: 43–44):

- 1. Cultural knowledge that guides one's research and writing
- 2. The methods used to search for knowledge
- 3. Interpreting knowledge to give it back in a purposeful, helpful and relevant manner.

Indigenous scholars are rightly concerned with ensuring that our knowledge is not viewed through a colonial lens or subordinate to that framing and that it stands on its own merits in a way that aims to decolonize the topic (Kovach, 2010: 47; Sánchez-Antonio, 2022). The cultural knowledge that I present here was not only gifted to me by previous generations it is also knowledge that has been discussed in the public domain previously and as such I believe that my contribution will help it continue to flower and bloom for all those that see it. The millennia-knowledge here are supported by additional works from non-Indigenous authors that have done much for many areas of Indigenous scholarship and built strong relationships with Indigenous communities in their commitment to epistemic justice and decolonization.

Indigenous thought and philosophy

To begin, we must consider what is meant by the word philosophy. Philosophers James Maffie (2014) and Scott L. Pratt (2002) have highlighted how many scholars argue that philosophy is a uniquely Western invention and that outside of the Western-Greek-Roman tradition there is no true philosophy. However, they and V. F. Cordova – the first Indigenous American woman to earn a PhD in philosophy – remind us that philosophy describes the intellectual act of communities considering their place in the world, relations to others and what that all means (Cordova, 2007). Cordova argued beautifully for employing an Indigenous philosophy that can be common to all Indigenous peoples based on shared thought structures across Indigenous cultures – something that other scholars have identified as well (Cordova, 2007; Graeber and Wengrow, 2021; Mackay, 2022b).

Indigenous philosophies have existed for millennia and are as complex as Western frameworks (Léon-Portilla, 1963; Pratt, 2002; Cordova, 2007; Maffie, 2014; Sánchez-Antonio, 2022). These philosophies were developed and in full use when the first Europeans arrived (Pratt, 2002) and evolved as they encountered Europeans. Despite centuries of physical and intellectual attack these ideas have managed to survive and critique the ideas and strategies of their European opposites (Cordova, 2007; Graeber and Wengrow, 2021; Mackay, 2022b).

Indigenous peoples are not a monolith, and their diversity in thought must be recognized while also considering that their thought frameworks and values developed in contexts specific to time, place and people. However, despite this diversity scholars like the preeminent Indigenous American philosopher V. F. Cordova (2007), Zapotec philosopher Juan Carlos Sánchez-Antonio (2022) and Scott L. Pratt (2002) have identified a commonality in thought frameworks that many Indigenous communities and philosophies share. These scholars identify that Indigenous philosophies are primarily concerned with balance, maintaining balance and human responsibilities to each other, their community, their environment and an appreciation for diversity in all things – on and off earth. These concepts were recently highlighted in a special issue of American Indian Culture and Research Journal guest edited by David Delgado Shorter and Kim TallBear about Indigenous knowledge and the search for intelligences beyond our planet (2021).

Pratt coalesces these ideas into what he terms the Indigenous Pragmatic which he states has four dimensions: interaction, plurality, community and growth (see Pratt 2002: 20–38 for full explanations of these dimensions). Cordova (2007) argues that Indigenous people fundamentally view the world and the cosmos differently and that the Indigenous view includes a duty to everything and everyone and responsibility to maintain that balance. Maffie (2014) similarly argues this through Méxica philosophy and the concepts of Olin, Malinalli and Nepantla which define and shape the universe in abstract and literal senses. Additionally, the Aymara/Bolivian sociologist Silvia Rivera Cusicanqui (2020) affirms the Indigenous appreciation for plurality and ambiguity through the Aymara concept of Ch'ixi, which stresses the uniqueness and beauty of the plurality and diversity that arises from interactions among all things. These diverse Indigenous concepts all exemplify what Méxica philosophies calls 'Tlacoqualli in Monequi' or 'the center good that is required' (Maffie, 2019; Mackay, 2022a) – i.e. balance in all aspects of existence.

Science and indigenous philosophy

Science as a concept and experimentation as a method have a long and legitimized legacy in Indigenous philosophies. A prime example of this is the pre-Columbian creation narratives of many communities that are defined by what we would now call the scientific method. The K'iche' Maya beautifully illustrate this in their living work, the *Popol Vuh*. In the *Popol Vuh* the K'iche' tell of the creation of the world and detail the various hypotheses, designs, experimentations and results of the creationary forces in their quest to create a sentient species that can speak and honour the gods and cosmic forces (Tedlock, 1996). Thousands of years before European arrival Indigenous peoples independently established, understood and used the scientific method. The prominence of this method in such important stories shows that Indigenous communities saw science and empirical enquiry as a

fundamental aspect of being and not antithetical to life, spirituality, knowledge and more (Mackay, 2022b).

Indigenous Americans throughout what is now called North and South America have a long history of tracking the stars and studying cosmic phenomena. The most famous examples of this are the observatories, records and celestially aligned cities of the Mississippian alliances, Méxica, Maya and Inca. However, this fascination with space and the cosmos can also be found in countless other Indigenous communities. The cosmovision - ways of being and interacting with reality and the universe - of Indigenous people have been created in various contexts: large multi-city nations, smaller regional towns, subsistence and large-scale farming, written and spoken language and histories, deserts, oceans, lakes, rivers, jungles, forests, ice and sand and more. Many Indigenous peoples view the world and their place in the universe as impermanent, cyclical, reciprocal and balanced. In Méxica philosophy everything in existence stems from a single fundamental building block that is constantly reshaping and transforming itself (León-Portilla, 1963; Cordova, 2007; Salomon and Urioste, 2010; Leeming, 2013; Maffie, 2014). Since the same fundamental energy - teotl in Nahuatl, the language of the Méxica – permeates all things throughout the cosmos there is no logical foundation in Indigenous philosophies to assume that humanity and our needs are more important than those of other life forms in other places and throughout all times. Interestingly the words and concepts that cosmologists use in describing the universe, quantum mechanics and the end of the universe (Mack, 2020) are similar to many ancient Indigenous philosophies and cosmologies, another area of science ripe for Indigenous people and ideas to contribute to and explain.

Indigenous thought and astrobioethics

Astrobioethics has grown out of the discipline of astrobiology and is primarily concerned with the philosophy of science and the ethics of how we explore the universe. It has received attention through scholarly and media articles (Keim, 2008; Dick 2018), a book (Chon-Torres, 2021a) and the Scholarly Community Encyclopaedia (Peters, 2022). According to an Encyclopaedia of Astrobiology entry astrobioethics is defined as '...the study of ethical questions in connection with astrobiology...among the key issues, we find the following: the moral status for extraterrestrial life and its implications; how to interact with extraterrestrial life; how to handle risks to humanity and other Earth life when interacting with extraterrestrial life...' among others (Persson, 2021).

Since astrobioethics has grown out of astrobiology, astrophysics and other natural sciences – disciplines with strong Euro-Western histories (Prescod-Weinstein, 2021; Chon-Torres, 2021a, 2021b) – the focus on ethics and science have largely been based on dominant Western systems. This focus continues to marginalize other systems of ethics and science and reduces them to minor aberrations in the overall discourse (Santos, 2014; Mignolo and Walsh, 2018). Astrobioethics asks many of the same questions that traditional bioethics does but on a larger cosmic scale and is already considering how we might 'colonize' future planets and environments. That word itself is loaded with history and connotations that I will discuss below. Bioethics as a discipline must consider and earnestly implement alternative ethics and philosophies (Mackay, 2022a), however astrobioethics has an opportunity to ensure that these dominant Western discourses do not receive over-warranted attention or the limelight. Since this is a burgeoning branch of ethics there is a rare opportunity for scholars to mitigate the prevailing histories of colonialism and systemic racism in science and ethics, particularly as related to Indigenous peoples (Feagin, 2006; Feagin and Bennefield, 2014; Mackay and Feagin, 2022).

Discussion

Astrobioethics should consider its relation to Indigenous peoples and knowledge frameworks now, before it is too late. Indigenous knowledge frameworks are largely excluded from the literature and have relatively few members in the disciplines and academies. However, the numbers of Indigenous scholars are increasing as is consideration of Indigenous knowledge frameworks across the sciences

and humanities. Astrobioethics is primed to include these ideas and other Global South knowledge in ways that more established branches of science and humanities are not and have not.

On the term 'colonize'

Many astrobioethical conversations continue to use the word 'colonize' which has a racio-linguistic association – colonize and its variations have become co-naturalized with race and anti-Indigenous sentiments (Rosa and Flores, 2017). Co-naturalization makes it difficult to disentangle the word from its associated history and racialization (Veronelli, 2015; Rosa and Flores, 2017; Mackay and Feagin, 2022) and continuing to term our exploration as 'colonization' invokes images of colonization by European empires. Colonization in the Americas includes well-documented Indigenous genocide, slavery, oppression, resource exploitation and ongoing marginalization and culturicide (Stannard, 1993; Williams, 2012; Fenelon, 2014; Dunbar-Ortiz, 2015; Townsend, 2019; Sjursen, 2021; Mackay and Feagin, 2022). Framing our space exploration as colonization risks reinforcing that these missions are patterned on previous and current colonization events (Chon-Torres, 2021b).

A new term should be debated and considered, but it won't be easy. 'Settlement' still has connotations with settler-colonialism but is less likely to reinforce the same violence and exploitation as 'colonize'; 'inhabitation' could be a potential replacement but it may not adequately encompass our exploits. Even the word 'expansion' risks a colonial overtone as it conjures references in the US to Manifest Destiny and westward expansion which were based on the same violence and colonial policies as initial colonization itself (Drinnon, 1997; Williams, 2012; Johnson, 2022; Mackay and Feagin, 2022).

While terminology co-naturalizes ideas and people (Rosa and Flores, 2017), the very philosophical foundations of astrobioethics must be considered and reformulated. While Indigenous philosophies are concerned with the four core bioethical principles (Beauchamp and Childress, 2019) – autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice – they are defined and understood differently and in concert with additional Indigenous ethical and philosophical concerns (Barkin, 2022; Sánchez-Antonio, 2022; Mackay, 2022a). The preeminent Indigenous philosopher, the late V. F. Cordova, identified many of these shared Indigenous philosophical ideas and James Maffie (2014) and Scott L. Pratt (2002) separately synthesized those same ideas in their works. Pratt called his framework 'Native pragmatism' and identified its four main principles: interaction, pluralism, community and growth. Maffie (2014) uses three Méxica concepts to anchor his arguments: Olin, Malinalli and Nepantla. We will turn to considerations of these frameworks and astrobioethics now.

Olin and interaction

Olin is a Méxica philosophical concept that integrates interactionism and has physical and qualitative dimensions – olin is a process of literal and abstract movement and change (Maffie, 2014: 186–190). Olin motion-change (Maffie, 2014) shapes cyclical processes like life-death, day-night, pulsating objects and much more. Space exploration includes both olin and interaction dimensions: leaving Earth, exploring a new place and returning information/people/specimens. Missions are cyclical by design and the nature of the environment they enter and whether the olin motion-change of that system is being disrupted by our interactions should be considered. If human presence causes olin-disruption, then it is seen as a violation of Indigenous ethics and steps must be taken to return to balance. Much as chaos theory and quantum mechanics state that one little change in a system can alter a larger system – even as large as the known universe (Mack, 2020: 155) – violation of a system's olin could lead to a decay and fatal disruption (Léon-Portilla, 1963). We must be even more careful than we already are during our explorations.

Missions and astronauts must not only consider their autonomy, but also the autonomy of the very things with which they interact. The interaction between these two autonomies must be balanced for the universe to be balanced itself. In the context of space exploration, astrobioethics and Indigenous pragmatism this is understood as humanity having no inherent or universal right to affect the balance of the

environments we enter. This extends to non-animal life such as plants, micro-organisms, rocks and other 'beings' (Kimmerer, 2015). Indigenous ethics and philosophy assign an aspect of 'being' to everything as everything is constituted of the vivifying and basic foundational particles known as teotl and participates in olin motion-change (Maffie, 2014). This means that assuming humans are the natural owners of anything on and off earth is unethical and any missions with this express purpose are equally unethical (Barkin, 2022).

For example, a mission to Mars to 'colonize' it utilizing Martian resources, such as Martian ice for water, is problematic under an Indigenous framework. That water is part of a balance on Mars that is vitally important and humanity's actions for our own ends can upset that olin defined system. Lacking a strong understanding of the environment, its balance and how we could affect this system could be catastrophic to all of Mars and its systems – which would be an extreme violation of Indigenous ethics. Indigenous ethics does not demand that space exploration not occur – merely that it involves far more consideration, debate and nuance than is typically considered (Neilson and Ćirković, 2021; Milligan, 2023). Additionally, the life that may be present on another cosmic body would have an inherent right to maintain the balance in its own way. This could mean that the environment becomes unsuitable for humanity even after inhabitation and an ethical action by humanity would be to respect that reorientation in balance, even if it means abandoning the mission.

Nepantla and plurality

Nepantla in Méxica philosophy is an essential concept that defines the universe and all things in it – it is the necessary comingling, mixing and weaving of all things into a unity that is constantly pulling, pushing and redefining itself and its parts (Maffie, 2014). In Indigenous pragmatism frameworks this is called plurality (Pratt, 2002; Cordova, 2007). Plurality recognizes that individuals and societies have their own frameworks from which they operate, those frameworks may be highly different from our own, but they are not to be oppressed or marginalized (Pratt, 2002). This means that a bioethically defined autonomous and beneficent action of humanity is to respect and consider the nepantla-plurality of other beings and places.

This could mean in space exploration that the astrobioethical prerogative will be to assume, respect, appreciate and learn from the autonomy of all systems. This nepantla-plurality increases the diversity of humanity's knowledge and experience and allows for other systems to exist in agonistic unity with our own. Unlike the philosophies undergirding colonization of the Americas (Stannard, 1993; Pratt, 2002; Williams, 2012; Mackay and Feagin, 2022), which demand the supremacy of one system over another, Indigenous philosophy states that the systems, life, etc., found on other planets must be respected. Through a balanced olin defined and nepantla structured interaction there will arise solutions.

Nepantla and plurality can be difficult for those who have not be raised with it or deeply exposed to it. Plurality demands respect for all beings vivified by the fundamental structure of teotl such as microorganisms, plants, water, minerals, time and place (McLeod, 2017; Barkin, 2022). Through recognition of the importance of nepantla-plurality and a balanced olin-interaction can malinalli-community flourish and grow. Diversity is essential under Indigenous philosophy for the survival of all parties across times and places.

Malinalli and community

Malinalli is the Méxica concept that is defined by the underlying forces through which olin motion-change can occur (Maffie, 2014: 172). It is the twisting, spiralling and spinning of all things and forces to ensure the continuation of cyclical olin systems – the Indigenous pragmatic calls this community. Indigenous peoples, philosophies and pragmatic see community as made up of many autonomous beings that must be respected and cared for which benefits the wellbeing and balance of the overall community. The extreme individualism and resource extraction of Western philosophies and societies is not ethical under Indigenous structures (Lahontan, 1703; Graeber and Wengrow, 2021; Mackay, 2022a, 2022b) – individual responsibilities exist in an overall responsibility to a larger

community and system (Barkin, 2022; Sánchez-Antonio, 2022). This demands respect not only for yourself and others, but respect for the animal and non-animal environment in which all things exist.

For example, on Mars or Jupiter's moon Europa this would mean that not only do missions and astronauts exist for themselves and are obligated to their individual duties, but that these duties are in malinalli defined interactions with other beings and systems to ensure the continuation of the larger olin defined system or mission. The Western idea of teamwork is similar in concept, but it still emphasizes the individuality of team members. It only partially encompasses the communal duties and responsibilities shared by all under an Indigenous framework whereby individuality comes second or third to the community.

Ometeotl and growth

The Méxica concept of ometeotl encompasses everything that we have discussed here. It *is* olin-interaction, nepantla-plurality, malinalli-community, humans, planets, the universe, atoms, particles and everything else (Maffie, 2014: 169–170). Ometeotl is the fundamental structuring and shaping of the universe from which all things emerge, and which constantly incorporates changes into itself – the Indigenous pragmatic calls this growth (Pratt, 2002). Growth in the Indigenous pragmatic is not only measurable change – it is also qualitative change and evolution through the combination of interaction, plurality and community. Ometeotl-growth is neither positive or negative, it just is and always will be.

Conclusion

Though we may see the future of humanity as off-world, Indigenous philosophy and pragmatic would ask us to interrogate why we think that is (Chon-Torres, 2021b)? Is it really the solution to our perceived problems or our alleged right to impact systems we likely will never be truly prepared to encounter? Or should we accept that humanity is olin defined and through its cyclical nature has always existed and has a conclusion – or many conclusions since both cyclic Indigenous philosophies and quantum theories state this is possible (Léon-Portilla, 1963; Maffie, 2014; Mack 2020). Indigenous philosophy in astrobioethics asks us to honestly consider if the risk and hazard of space travel and otherworldly inhabitation, for ourselves and other environments, is truly the balance of the cosmos.

Astrobioethics is a burgeoning field that is primed for innovative research. Including an astrobioethics affinity group within ASBH shows that this branch of ethics is rapidly growing and is likely here to stay. Since bioethics as a field/discipline is already established with a Western mindset and framework – which is changing slowly – the risk exists that this same Western and Global North domination could be imported into the fledgling structure of astrobioethics. Since astrobioethics is still forming it is the optimal chance to make sure that oppressed and marginalized thought traditions and ethical frameworks are included, such as those from pre-Columbian Indigenous American philosophies. Indigenous ethics can help to frame our future space technologies and explorations in a new light that gives everyone and everything an intrinsic value beyond its value as a tool or commodity. This will likely be important to avoid the exploitation and destruction traditionally accompanying human exploration and colonization.

References

Barkin D (2022) Shaping a communitarian ethos in an era of ecological crisis. *Frontiers in Sustainability* 3, 1–14. Beauchamp TL and Childress JF (2019) *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*, 8th Edn. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. Chon-Torres OA (2021a) Chapter 1: astrobioethics: epistemological, astrotheological, and interplanetary issues. In Chon-Torres OA, Peters T, Seckbach J and Gordon R (eds). *Astrobiology: Science, Ethics, and Public Policy.* Beverly, MA: Scrivener Publishing, pp. 1–17.

Chon-Torres OA (2021b) Mars: a free planet? International Journal of Astrobiology 20, 294–299.

Cordova VF (2007) How It Is: The Native American Philosophy of V.F. Cordova. Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press.

Cornum L (2015) The Space NDN's Star Map. The New Inquiry. Retrieved 4-1-2023. https://thenewinquiry.com/the-space-ndns-star-map/.

Cusicanqui SR (2020) Ch'ixikanax utxiwa: On Practices and Discourses of Decolonization. Cambridge, UK: Polity.

Delgado Shorter D and TallBear K (eds) (2021) Settler science, alien contact, and searches for intelligence. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal* **45**, 1–167.

Dick SJ (2018) Astroethics and Cosmocentrism. Scientific American: Observations. Available at https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/observations/astroethics-and-cosmocentrism/.

Drake N (2018) We need to change the way we talk about space exploration. *National Geographic*. Retrieved 4-1-2023. https://www.nationalgeographic.com/science/article/we-need-to-change-way-we-talk-about-space-exploration-mars.

Drinnon R (1997) Facing West: The Metaphysics of Indian-Hating and Empire-Building. Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma

Press

Dunbar-Ortiz R (2015) An Indigenous Peoples' History of the United States. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Feagin J (2006) Systemic Racism: A Theory of Oppression. New York, NY: Routledge.

Feagin J and Bennefield Z (2014) Systemic racism and U.S. health care. Social Science & Medicine 103, 7-14.

Fenelon JV (2014) Culturicide, Resistance, and Survival of the Lakota. London, UK: Routledge.

Graeber D and Wengrow D (2021) The Dawn of Everything: A New History of Humanity. New York, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Johnson D (2022) What Can Indigenous Worldviews Bring to Space Exploration? As It Turns Out, a Lot. Mother Jones. Retrieved March 28, 2023. https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2022/04/what-can-indigenous-worldviews-bring-to-space-exploration-as-it-turns-out-a-lot/.

Keim B (2008) Be the Parent of a Brand-New Word: Astrobioethics. Wired. Available at https://www.wired.com/2008/08/wired-science-c/.

Kimmerer RW (2015) Braiding Sweetgrass: Indigenous Wisdom, Scientific Knowledge and the Teachings of Plants. Minneapolis, MN: Milkweed Editions.

Kovach M (2010) Indigenous Methodologies: Characteristics, Conversations, and Contexts. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press.

Lahontan BD (1703) Dialogues. New Voyages to North America. Digitally archived at the Library of Congress. Available at https://www.loc.gov/item/2021667006.

Leeming B (2013) 'Jade Water, Gunpowder Water': Water Imagery in Nahuatl Descriptions of Heaven and Hell. American Society for Ethnohistory 2013 Annual Meeting. Available at https://www.academia.edu/11810951/_Jade_Water_Gunpowder Water Water Imagery in Nahuatl Descriptions of Heaven and Hell.

Léon-Portilla M (1963) Aztec Thought and Culture: A Study of the Ancient Nahuatl Mind. Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press

Mack K (2020) The End of Everything (Astrophysically Speaking). New York, NY: Scribner.

Mackay R (2022a) Tlacoqualli in Monequi 'the center good': a brief consideration of indigenous bioethics. *Voices in Bioethics* **8**, 1–4.

Mackay RE (2022b) An indigenous critique: expanding sociology and recognizing unique indigenous knowledge. Frontiers in Sociology 7, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2022.1047812.

Mackay RE and Feagin J (2022) 'Merciless Indian savages': deconstructing anti-indigenous framing. Sociology of Race and Ethnicity 8, 518–534.

Maffie J (2014) Aztec Philosophy: A World in Motion. Boulder, CO: University of Colorado Press.

Maffie J (2019) Weaving the good life in a living world: reciprocity, balance and nepantla in Aztec ethics. *Science, Religion and Culture* 6, 15–25. https://doi.org/10.17582/journal.src/2019.6.1.15.25.

McLeod A (2017) Philosophy of the Ancient Maya: Lords of Time. Blue Ridge Summit, PA: Lexington Books.

Mignolo WD and Walsh CE (2018) On Decoloniality: Concepts, Analytics, Praxis. Durham, NC: Duke University Press Books. Milligan T (2023) From the sky to the ground: indigenous peoples in an age of space expansion. Space Policy 63, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spacepol.2022.101520.

Neilson H and Ćirković EE (2021) Indigenous rights, people, and space exploration: A response to the Canadian Space Agency (CSA) Consulting Canadians on a framework for future space exploration activities. *Arxiv Preprint*. Retrieved March 31, 2023. https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/2104/2104.07118.pdf.

Persson E (2021) Astrobioethics. Encyclopedia of Astrobiology. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-27833-4_5356-1.

Peters TF (2022) Astroethics. Scholarly Community Encyclopedia. Available at https://encyclopedia.pub/item/revision/ff0a4b96955079658b08c3442f8f98d1.

Pratt SL (2002) Native Pragmatism: Rethinking the Roots of American Philosophy. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.Prescod-Weinstein C (2021) The Disordered Cosmos: A Journey into Dark Matter, Spacetime, and Dreams Deferred. Lebanon, IN: Bold Type Books.

Renstrom J (2022) Why sending a Native American into space is a big deal. wbur *Cognoscenti*. Retrieved 4-1-2023. https://www.wbur.org/cognoscenti/2022/10/11/nicole-mann-space-webb-telescope-joelle-renstrom.

Rosa J and Flores N (2017) Unsettling race and language: toward a raciolinguistic perspective. *Language in Society* **46**, 621–647. Salomon F and Urioste GL (2010) *The Huarochiri Manuscript: A Testament of Ancient and Colonial Andean Religion*. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press.

Sánchez-Antonio JC (2022) Genealogía de la comunalidad indígena: Descolonialidad, transmodernidad y diálogos intercivilizatorios. Latin American Research Review 56, 696–710.

Santos BDS (2014) Epistemologies of the South: Justice Against Epistemicide. New York, NY: Routledge.

Sjursen D (2021) A True History of the United States: Indigenous Genocide, Racialized Slavery, Hyper-Capitalism, Militarist Imperialism and Other Overlooked Aspects of American Exceptionalism. Lebanon, NH: Steerforth Press.

Stannard DE (1993) American Holocaust: The Conquest of the New World. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Tedlock D (1996) Popol Vuh: The Definitive Edition of the Mayan Book of the Dawn of Life and the Glories of Gods and Kings. New York, NY: Touchstone by Simon and Schuster.

Townsend C (2019) Fifth Sun: A New History of the Aztecs. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Veronelli G (2015) The coloniality of language: race, expressivity, power and the darker side of modernity. *Wagadu* 13, 108–134. Williams RA Jr. (2012) *Savage Anxieties: The Invention of Western Civilization*. New York: St. Martin's Press.